POLITECNICO DI TORINO

Master of Science in Engineering and Management



Analysis of Inward Foreign Direct Investments in the United States

Supervisor

Candidate

Prof. Luigi Benfratello

Valerio Vallone

Academic Year 2019/2020

Table of contents

Та	Table of contents1						
In	Introduction3						
1	Forei	gn direct investments and multinational enterprises	5				
	1.1	Definitions	5				
	1.2	FDI classification	5				
	1.3	FDI approaches	7				
	1.4	The "OLI" framework	3				
	1.5	The effects of multinational enterprises and foreign direct investments	9				
2	Forei	gn direct investments in the United States1	L				
	2.1	Research objective1	1				
	2.2	Literature review1	1				
	2.3	FDI dataset1	5				
	2.4	FDI distribution1	5				
	2.4.1	Destination State10	5				
	2.4.2	Industry sector1	7				
	2.4.3	Industry activity19	Э				
	2.4.4	Source Country2	1				
3 Overview of the United States economy		view of the United States economy24	1				
	3.1	U.S. economy24	4				
	3.2	Industrial sector	3				
	3.3	Service sector	3				
	3.4	Agricultural sector	1				

	3.5	Research and Development (R&D)	36				
4	Dete	erminants selection	38				
	4.1	State specific determinants	38				
	4.1.1	1 Local market size	38				
	4.1.2	2 Market growth	39				
	4.1.3	3 Unemployment					
	4.1.4	4 Educational attainment					
	4.1.5	5 Research and development effort	40				
	4.1.6	6 Taxation	40				
	4.2	Agglomeration determinants	40				
	4.2.1	1 Industrial specialization	41				
	4.2.2	2 Home country activity	42				
	4.2.3	3 Parent company activity	42				
5	Firm	n location decision	44				
	5.1	Regression variables	44				
	5.2	Conditional Logit model results	48				
	5.2.1	1 Results obtained for the whole population	48				
	5.2.2	2 Results obtained for the main industry activities	51				
	5.2.3	3 Results obtained for the main investing country	55				
6	Conc	clusions	59				
Ac	Acknowledgements						
References							
w	Web references						

Introduction

In the last decades the growth of multinational enterprise activity in the form of Foreign Direct Investment (hereinafter referred to as FDI) occurred faster than most other international transactions. The United States is the world largest recipient of FDI, which represent a key element for its economy. In fact, foreign companies generate enormous economic benefits, bringing billions of investments dollars, creating thousands of highpaying jobs for American workers and contributing to productivity growth and exports.

The purpose of this thesis work is to analyze the most important determinants of the location decisions of inward FDI in the United States. The existing literature on determinants of FDI can be considered rather extensive, and several studies which deal with this theme focusing on the United States have already been conducted. This research takes also into account some determinants related to agglomeration economies (with particular reference to Marshall and Jacobs externalities), in addition to the most common determinants linked to host countries' specific characteristics.

The study has been conducted by using data extracted from fDi markets by Financial Times Ltd., concerning the greenfield FDI undertaken by multinational enterprises in the fifty federal states during the period 2003-2018. Then, by using the Conditional Logit Model, it has been possible to better understand the forces that drove investments in the United States during this time frame.

The first chapter of this work is introductive and provides a brief discussion on FDI and multinational enterprises, with their characterizing dynamics and their effects. The second chapter focuses on FDI in the United States: initially, the literature review highlights the main results obtained by similar studies in the past, then the database used for the following analysis is introduced and the main results about the investments distribution are presented. The third chapter provides an overall view of the Unites States economy, that is necessary to understand the differences that characterize each region. The fourth chapter introduces the determinants included in the analysis, justifying the choice with a short explanation of their importance. The fifth chapter starts with the

description of the regression variables, then the Conditional Logit Model is used to obtain results about the effects of the determinants on the foreign firms' location choice. The last chapter contains the conclusions of this study.

1 Foreign direct investments and multinational enterprises

1.1 Definitions

A foreign direct investment (FDI) is an investment involving a long-term relationship made by a firm or individual in one country into business or corporation based in another country, with the intention of establishing a lasting interest. The element of "control" is what distinguishes FDI from foreign portfolio investments, that are just passive investments in the securities of another country. An investment into a foreign firm is considered an FDI when it establishes a lasting interest, that is when an investor obtains more than 10% of the voting rights in a firm.

A multinational enterprise (MNE), also called multinational corporation (MNC) is defined as and enterprise that engages in FDI and owns or controls production of goods or services in at least two countries. A multinational enterprise generally has factories in different countries and a centralized head office where global operations are coordinated. Multinational enterprises undertake FDI to create, acquire or expand a foreign subsidiary. They usually possess considerable human resources, finance, expertise and technology, enjoying substantial competitive advantages.

1.2 FDI classification

There are different reasons that encourage enterprises to invest in a foreign country, and it is possible to classify the type of FDI according to the main purpose of the investment. The most accepted taxonomy is the one proposed by Dunning (1993), which identifies four categories of FDI:

• Resource seeking FDI are undertaken to gain access to resources that are not available or that are more expensive in the home market. Resources can be natural

resources, raw materials, labor force and managerial competences. This type of FDI usually involves relocating parts of the production chain in the host country.

- Market seeking FDI are undertaken to overcome the impediments that limit the access to foreign market, such as transportation cost or tariffs, in order to exploit the possibilities granted by greater dimensions markets and to easily adapt products and services to the requirements of the local consumers. Another important advantage of the physical presence in a host country is to discourage potential competitors from entering the market (Franco et al., 2008). Since this kind of investment might implicate the duplication of some business activities already carried in the origin country, it is typically referred as horizontal FDI (Kinoshita and Campos, 2003).
- Efficiency seeking FDI are undertaken to benefit from factors that enable to compete in international markets and to take advantage of economies of scale, economies of scope and differences in consumer tastes and supply capabilities. Differences in culture, economic systems, policies and market structures are all factors that allow multinational enterprises to create new jobs that are more diversified and with greater productivity and value (Fruma, 2016).
- Strategic asset seeking FDI, defined also as competence creating, are undertaken with the purpose of acquiring a new technological base to gain access to knowledge, resources and capabilities that are considered critical in order to sustain or strengthen a competitive advantage, or to weaken those of competitors (Dunning and Lundan, 2008).

More and more frequently, large enterprises undertake FDI that combine two or more of these categories, with the goal of reaching multiple objectives.

More generally, it is possible to distinguish between vertical and horizontal FDI.

• Vertical FDI occurs when certain stages of production are transferred to subsidiaries operating abroad. The choice to produce in part abroad is mainly

related to the possibility of taking advantage of the existence of international differences in production and resources costs.

Horizontal FDI occurs when foreign subsidiaries produce exactly the same goods
produced by the parent company (in the case of single-product companies) or
specific varieties of the same product (in the case of multi-product companies).
Horizontal FDI flows occur mainly between developed countries. The choice to
produce abroad can be linked above all to the possibility of reducing the costs of
access to the foreign market, of better adapting the production to the preferences
of local demand and of exploiting the contiguity of the production activity to the
markets of consumption.

1.3 FDI approaches

There are two main approaches to undertake an FDI, which differ in the way the multinational enterprises decide to invest: greenfield FDI and brownfield FDI. A greenfield investment implies that the parent company creates a subsidiary in a different country, building its operations from the ground up and establishing its operations by constructing new facilities of production, distribution or research. Instead, with a brownfield FDI, a company takes control of the assets of an existent firm located abroad through mergers or acquisitions.

Greenfield and brownfield FDI are different from several points of view. As concerns the impact on competition in the local market, greenfield FDI increase the competition among firms, with all consequent positive effects; instead, brownfield investments usually generate an increase in market concentration with a loss in welfare. With regard to the injection of capital, a greenfield FDI leads to a growth in the host country stock of physical capital, while a brownfield investment, which involves a change in ownership rather than an inflow of new capital, usually results in a limited increase. The productive capacity of the host country receives more benefits from a greenfield investment, that also generates an increasing demand for workers. However, from UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development), it results that most of the FDI take place through

mergers and acquisitions. This is probably due to the fact that the resulting possibility to exploit the competitive advantages of the local firm, such as the preferential access to production factors and distribution channel, the knowledge of the local market and the established relationships with local authorities, makes investors prefer this approach with respect to greenfield investments (Corporate Finance Institute).

1.4 The "OLI" framework

The "OLI" approach to the study of FDI was developed by John Dunning (Dunning, 1993) and has emerged as a fruitful way for analyzing investments determinants. OLI stands for Ownership, Location and Internalization. These factors are considered to be three main sources of competitive advantage that might persuade MNEs to undertake foreign investments. The "OLI" paradigm has the goal to determine which approach for the production of goods and services among those available, national or international, provides the greatest overall value to the company.

Ownership advantages explain why some firms become multinational enterprises and others do not. The idea is that some firms own levels of assets, such as patents, knowledge, and managerial skills, higher than the average, and this allows them to operate in different locations without reducing their effectiveness.

Location advantages are related to where an MNE decide to locate its investments. There are various benefits that might arise from the specific features of the host country, depending on social, environmental, political and economic factors. Companies must verify whether or not there is an advantage in performing specific functions within a particular host country and choose the location on the basis of the main objectives of their investment. More specifically, in case of horizontal FDI a multinational might decide to locate its business where it has the possibility to improve its market access to foreign consumers, while in case of vertical FDI a firm will choose trying to avail lower production cost.

Finally, internalization advantages influence how firms decide to operate, and in particular whether to produce a particular product in-house or outsource the production to a third party which guarantees better products or greater knowledge of the foreign environment. In that context, sometimes it results more cost effective to operate from a different location while keep doing the work in-house.

1.5 The effects of multinational enterprises and foreign direct investments

Multinational enterprises' activity produces multiple economic, social, political, cultural and environmental effects (Goldstein and Piscitello, 2007). There are conflicting opinions concerning the effects of FDI, and multinationals are often considered either as welcome bearers of foreign wealth and knowledge or as unwelcome threats to national wealth and identity (Barba Navaretti and Venables, 2006).

Critics sustain that multinational enterprises are global players with huge bargaining and market power, with the possibility to easily circumvent regulations and policies. For these reasons, MNEs are often considered as companies that make profit by exploiting favorable conditions at the expense of local workers and host countries. Evidence shows that the majority of MNE activities are undertaken by private business enterprises, suggesting that they mainly act for the interests of their shareholders rather than the entire community (Fruma, 2016). People generally assume that these enterprises have undue political influence over governments and that they exploit developing nations while creating job losses in their own home countries.

On the other hand, the economic rationale for offering special incentives to attract FDI derives from the belief that they produce externalities in the form of technology transfer and spillovers (i.e. effects produced by the presence of the MSE on the local firms). More specifically, while spillovers intra industry (horizontal) might have negative effects crowding out local competitors in the same sector, spillovers inter industry (vertical) that influence the whole supply chain of the enterprise itself are positive, since foreign investors provide suppliers with technical assistance, training and other kinds of information (Jude, 2012). Furthermore, when the MNEs get in touch with local firms,

linkages with both suppliers and customers can rise: these relationships usually lead to positive effects toward local actors, such as increasing input demand and prices reduction. Macroeconomic studies using aggregate FDI flows for a broad cross section of countries generally suggest a positive role of FDI in generating economic growth, especially in particular environments (Moran et al., 2005). Different mechanisms linked to FDI increase national wealth, and empirical studies suggest that FDI are usually associated with the creation of new job opportunities and enhancement of technology transfer. FDI inflow boosts economic growth and represents an important source of capital for the host country. Since many MNEs enjoy reputable brand names and privileged access to technology and managerial techniques (Casson, 1987), FDI usually bring technologies, financial resources and more efficient managerial skills. Therefore, local companies are stimulated to improve themselves in front of the increased market competition that threatens their advantage or monopoly. Furthermore, MNEs often offer better work conditions with respect to national firms.

Consequently, advanced economies have recognized the importance of FDI, and the attitudes towards inward FDI has changed in the last years, with most countries that have lowered entry barriers and have provided various incentives in order to attract investments from foreign companies.

2 Foreign direct investments in the United States

2.1 Research objective

The United States welcome foreign investments and offer to international investors a stable and open economy (Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012). The United States is the largest recipient of FDI in the world, and FDI represent a key element for the economy. Foreign companies and their subsidiaries generate enormous economic benefits for the American economy, bringing billions of investments dollars, creating thousands of high-paying jobs for American workers and contributing to productivity growth and exports. There are various characteristics that make investing in the United States very attractive and that increase the importance of the U.S. market as a location for foreign companies' businesses, such as the fact that the United States counts more than 307 million people, a landmass of 3.7 million square miles, an economy larger than any other single country, and the most important market for a global business (Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

The purpose of this research is to investigate what drives multinational enterprises to prefer one destination more than another, analyzing the influence that various determinants have in this decision-making process. This analysis aims at developing a model that will allow to better understand the forces that have driven investments in the fifty federal states of the United States in the past years, and to point out which is the impact of the main host countries' characteristics that foreign investors take into account during their evaluations.

2.2 Literature review

Nowadays, many studies about the role of FDI, their effects and the determinants that attract them in different countries all over the world have been performed. Many researchers have further explored these topics with particular reference to the United States, with some differences in terms of purposes, methodology and conclusions.

Coughlin et al. (1989) analyzed the pattern of FDI in manufacturing for the period 1981-1983, developing a Conditional Logit Model of the foreign firm's investment decision based on profit maximization. Among the most important results they obtained, what deserve to be mentioned are the key role of the number of potential sites, the importance of the per capita income, the positive role of manufacturing density, and the negative role of high wages and unitary taxation. In addition, they underlined that the role of the government is not limited to taxation, but expenditures to attract FDI really influence the choices of foreign investors.

Japan is the country that most invested in the U.S. in terms of capital during the last years. A study by Hennart and Park (1994) examines the impact of location, governance factors and strategic interactions on Japanese firms' propensity to manufacture in the United States. The results support the view that a FDI can be explained by location, governance, and strategic variables. Generally, the larger a Japanese firm's R&D expenditures, the greater the probability it will manufacture in the United States, but this is not the case for advertising expenditures. Economies of scale and trade barriers encourage Japanese FDI, as well as concentrated and high-growth American industries. Japanese firms with medium domestic market shares have the highest propensity to invest in the United States. Another important result is that there is evidence of follow-the-leader behavior between firms of rival enterprise groups, but none of exchange-of-threat between American and Japanese firms.

Chung and Alcácer (2002) examined whether and when state technical capabilities attracted foreign investments in manufacturing from 1987-1993. They examined in which of the 48 contiguous states inward FDI transactions were located by using a state-level analysis because of data constraints and because of the implications that political boundaries have for the economic activity. The Random Parameter Logistic regression (RPL) were adopted to make use of the numerous reasons that motivate firms to conduct FDI. The research shows that states with greater market size, lower factor costs, and better access to surrounding states attract more foreign investments. In addition, the analysis provides three findings that help to better understand knowledge seeking FDI. First, knowledge seeking is limited to firms in research-intensive industries; although state R&D intensity does not attract FDI on average, a significant minority of firms, mostly in

research-intensive industries, is attracted to states with high R&D intensity. Second, investing firms in the pharmaceutical industry are those that value state R&D intensity the most. Finally, knowledge seeking FDI occurs not only among technical laggards, but also among technically leading firms.

Axarlogou (2004) analyzed data for the period between 1974 and 1991, from which emerge that FDI inflows in the United States are strongly influenced by spending on education. This study comes to the conclusion that quality of the local labor force, along with the efforts to improve this quality, is pivotal in attracting FDI inflows.

In another study, Axarloglou (2005) also found evidence that in the competition between states which want to attract the same inward FDI, factors such as relative labor productivity, relative spending on education, and relative crime rate play an important role. His study also suggests that relative tax incentives become extremely important in attracting investments inflows when the contest comes down to two states.

A research by Kornecki and Ekanayake (2012) investigates factors affecting the inward FDI flow among the fifty states. By using annual data from 1997 to 2007, they identified state-specific determinants of foreign investments, and investigate their importance. Results show that real per capita income, expenditure on education and research and development expenditure have a significant positive impact on inward FDI, while per capita taxes, unit labor cost, manufacturing density and unemployment rate have a negative impact.

Sometimes it can happen to come across studies with conclusions contradicting the results obtained by other researchers. For example, O'Meara (2015), trying to identify the principal determinants of FDI on a cross country basis, found out that traditional variables relating to the size and scale of economic activity in the host country are the most significant, while variables such as economic freedom, tax incentives and human capital, are not at all significant. These findings are in line with similar studies that show market size, economic openness and quality of infrastructure to be important elements in explaining FDI inflows but are in contrast with the researches that consider those variables to be key drivers.

Against the result that tax incentives do not significantly affect the choices of foreign investors, Morisset and Pirnia (2002) pointed out that it certainly cannot be a coincidence that FDI in tax haven countries in the Caribbean and South Pacific grew more than fivefold between 1985 and 1994, to over \$200 billion. According to them, it is therefore necessary to include a tax variable among the FDI determinants to observe the effect that fiscal incentives might have on the location decision. Such inconsistency of results proves that the impact of FDI determinants can strongly differ case by case.

From the literature review emerges that in the past many studies did not focus on factors that, in more recent years, have been recognized as truly significant. In particular, many of the most recent empirical studies analyze the effect of agglomeration economies on multinational investment, verifying their role in attracting FDI inflows. Spatial agglomeration is likely to play a very important role in the industry location and site selection, because proximity between firms, both belonging to the same and to different industries, might generate positive externalities.

Smith and Florida (1993) examined the role of agglomeration and co-location in the process of FDI location choice by an econometric analysis of Japanese manufacturing establishment in the automotive industry. Their research empirically shows the preference for locations in close proximity to Japanese automotive assemblers, confirming the hypothesis that co-location of end-users and suppliers have a significant impact in the decision process.

According to Bronzini (2004), many studies did not systematically attempt to disentangle whether FDI are drawn by the concentration of firms within the same industry or within different industry (sectorial specialization or sectorial diversification). In other words, a large number of research did not focus on whether FDI are attracted to some areas because of the agglomeration of firms producing similar goods or, on the contrary, because of the concentration of firms producing different goods and services. By investigating the FDI inflows in the Italian regions over a seven years period between 1994 and 2000, Bronzini found out strong evidence that the more a region is specialized and dense, the more it attracts foreign investment within the same sector (Marshall externalities influence),

while the attractiveness of areas with diversified industries (Jacobs externalities influence) is significant especially in manufacturing sector.

2.3 FDI dataset

For this research, data about inward FDI in the United States were obtained from the fDi markets database developed by Financial Times. More precisely, it was possible to retrieve 21,791 observations of announced greenfield FDI undertaken in the U.S. during the period 2003-2018. The dataset provides many details regarding each investment, such as the investment date, the investing company, the destination state, the industry sector and the industry activity, giving the opportunity to focus on different aspects and to extrapolate several interesting information.

Consistently with the purpose of the study, only the investments directed to the fifty federal states were taken into account, hence excluding the observations related to investments undertaken in Washington D.C., American Samoa, Guam, Northern Mariana Islands, Puerto Rico, and Virgin Islands. For the same reason, investments for which the destination state was not specified were also excluded. Consequently, the final utile number of observations was 20,236.

2.4 FDI distribution

The following maps show an overall view of the distribution of the announced greenfield inward FDI undertaken in the United States from 2003 to 2018, both in terms of capital invested and number of investments. In the time frame between 2003 and 2018, more than 20,000 inward FDI have been announced by more than 10,500 companies from all over the world, for a total capital invested higher than \$ 970,000 billion.

2.4.1 Destination State

Texas is the state that received the biggest amount of capital (approximatively \$125,000 billion, more than 10% of the total capital invested) followed by California and New York (respectively about \$89,000 billion and \$86,000 billion).



Figure 2.1: percentage of capital invested in inward FDI. Source: fDi markets.

When considering the total number of investments received, California results the leading state with almost 3,200 investments (15.8%); New York and Texas come after, with approximately 2,600 (12.8%) and 1,600 (7.9%) inward FDI directed to their territory.



Figure 2.2: number of undertaken inward FDI. Source: fDi markets.

2.4.2 Industry sector

With regard to the industry sectors in which foreign enterprises invest, the first 10 most represented sectors account for the 63% of the total number of inward FDI stock. Software and IT service results the most attractive sector (14.2% of total investments), followed by business services (9.3%) and industrial equipment (7.4%). Automotive components (6.1%) and textiles (6%) complete the top five. The distribution is represented in the following diagram.



Figure 2.3: percentage of the total number of inward FDI by industry sector. Source: fDi markets.



Figure 2.4: distribution of the inward FDI by top five industry sectors in the respective top five destination states. Source: fDi markets.

Things change when considering the amount of capital invested in each sector. The 61.4% of the capital invested is concentrated in the first 10 most financed sectors, with coal, oil

and gas leading with the 11%, followed by chemicals (8.9%), textiles (8%), renewable energy (7%) and real estate (5.6%).



Figure 2.5: percentage of the total capital invested in inward FDI by industry sector. Source: fDi markets.

2.4.3 Industry activity

With regard to the industry activities in which foreign enterprises invest, the number of FDI related to manufacturing (25%), sales, marketing and support (23.6%) and business services (14.7%) account for the 63.3%. Retail (8.6%) and logistics, distribution and transportation are ranked respectively fourth and fifth.



Figure 2.6: percentage of the total number of inward FDI by industry activity. Source: fDi markets.



Figure 2.7: distribution of the inward FDI by top five industry activities in the respective top five destination states. Source: fDi markets.

Considering the amount of capital invested in each industry activity, manufacturing leads by far with a share of 48.4%, followed by retail (10.1%), construction (8.2%), electricity

(7.8%) logistics, distribution and transportation (4.6%) and sales, marketing and support (4.2%).



Figure 2.8: percentage of the total capital invested in inward FDI by industry activity. Source: fDi markets.

2.4.4 Source Country

Companies from the United Kingdom undertook the greatest number of investments in the United States, with more than 3,400 FDI accounting for the 15.8% of the total number. United Kingdom is followed by Germany (12.2%), Japan (9.9%), Canada (8.4%) and France (7.7%). Therefore, more than the half of the total number of inward FDI in the United States have been undertaken by only five countries. Italy, with a share of 3.6%, is ranked in the ninth place.



Figure 2.9: percentage of the total number of inward FDI by country. Source: fDi markets.



Figure 2.10: distribution of the inward FDI by top five investing countries in the respective top five destination states. Source: fDi markets.

The same five countries are again the leading ones when considering the amount of capital invested. Anyway, in this case Japan is ranked in the first place, having invested the 12.2% of the total, followed by Germany (10.7%), United Kingdom (9.9%), Canada (7.8%) and France (7.5%). Again, most FDI have been undertaken by these five countries (48.1%). Italy, accounting for the 4.4%, is ranked eighth.



Figure 2.11: percentage of the total capital invested in inward FDI by country. Source: fDi markets.

3 Overview of the United States economy

3.1 U.S. economy

Before analyzing the influence of the FDI determinants, an overview of the U.S. economy is necessary to better understand the general reasons that drive multinational enterprises to invest in a particular state. United States is the world's largest economy by nominal GDP and net wealth. In 2019 the GDP was \$21,429 billion with a 2.3% growth with respect to 2018 and the GDP per capita was \$65,462 (BEA). The states of California, Texas and New York showed a real GDP higher than \$1,000 billion in 2018.



Figure 3.1: distribution of 2018 real GDP (\$bln). Source: Bureau of Economic Analysis.

The United States is the world's largest importer and the second largest exporter. The top imports are cars (\$178B), crude petroleum (\$129B), broadcasting equipment (\$105B), computers (\$73.5B) and vehicle parts (\$67.1B). The top exports are refined petroleum (\$74.5B), cars (56B), planes, helicopters and spacecraft (\$54B), gas turbines (\$31.6B) and packaged medicaments (\$29.5B) (OEC). The top five largest companies by revenue in 2019 are: Walmart (\$514.40B), Exxon Mobil (\$290.21B), Apple (\$265.60B), Berkshire Hathaway (\$247.84B) and Amazon (\$232.89B) (Ceoworld Magazine). The U.S. dollar is the most used currency for international transactions. Service represents by far the most relevant sector, contributing to the 80% of the GDP, followed by the industrial sector (19.1%) and the agricultural sector (0.9%) (OEC).

The Country can be divided in five main regions: West, Midwest, Northeast, Southwest and Southeast.



Figure 3.2: United States regions.

The regions feature different geographical, climatic, demographic and economic characteristics, which are all factors contributing to different specializations in different industrial sectors, and that partially affect multinationals' behavior. Therefore, these differences are partially reflected in the analysis of the investments directed to the five regions, especially when considering the related industrial sectors or industrial activities and the FDI capital investment per capita.



Figure 3.3: percentage distribution of the number of inward FDI in the U.S. regions by top five industry sectors. Source: fDi markets.



Figure 3.4: percentage distribution of the number of inward FDI in the U.S. regions by top five industry activities. Source: fDi markets.



Figure 3.5: FDI capital investment per capita in the U.S. regions from 2014 to 2018. Source: fDi markets.

3.2 Industrial sector

The most important industrial productions concern aerospace vehicles, chemicals, pharmaceuticals and above all oil derivatives, household appliances, consumer electronics microelectronics, food, sportswear, tobacco and weapons. The United States is one of the first nations in the world for the value of annual mineral production, mainly concentrated in Texas, Louisiana, Alaska, Oklahoma and California. The main products are fuels, in order of value oil, natural gas and coal. Texas, Alaska and Louisiana are the top three oil-producing states, which supply approximately two thirds of the national crude annually. The largest natural gas deposits are located in Texas and Louisiana while the coal deposits are numerous especially in the Appalachian region, Wyoming and Kentucky. California, Utah and South Dakota are the first producers of gold.

The following map reporting the distribution of FDI in the coal, oil and gas during the observation time frame coherently reflects these territorial peculiarities, with Texas and Louisiana respectively first and second in attracting this kind of investments with 86 and 22 investments received.



Figure 3.6: number of FDI undertaken in the coal, oil and gas sector. Source: fDi markets.

The heart of U.S. industrial production is represented by the Northeast and, in particular, by the states of New York, Ohio, Illinois, Michigan and Pennsylvania. The "manufacturing belt" extends across the Northeast but is also expanding south and west. The states in which there has been significant industrial development are, in the south, Texas and, in the west, California. In particular, Texas and California are the leading state in the production of industrial machinery, followed by Illinois, Ohio and Michigan.



Figure 3.7: number of FDI undertaken in the industrial equipment sector. Source: fDi markets.

California (especially in the so-called Silicon Valley), Illinois, Indiana and Massachusetts are leaders in the production of electronic and computer equipment, one of the sectors of the American industry that has most rapidly developed. California is also the leader in aerospace vehicles and electronics, while Michigan the leader in the automotive industry.



Figure 3.8: number of FDI undertaken in the automotive components sector. Source: fDi markets.

Southeast has a strong concentration of rubber and tire processing plants, and Ohio is the state leader in this sector.



Figure 3.7: number of FDI undertaken in the rubber sector. Source: fDi markets.

The graphic and publishing industries are widespread; in this sector the state of New York, with its book industry, is ranked in the first place, but also California, Illinois and Pennsylvania play an important role. The paper industry is especially important in those states that have considerable forest resources that can be exploited for the production of paper: Wisconsin, Alabama, Georgia, New York, Washington, Maine, North Carolina and South Carolina (The USA Online).



Figure 3.8: number of FDI undertaken in the paper, printing and packaging sector. Source: fDi markets.

3.3 Service sector

Within the service sector, great importance is given to transport, with the road and rail network that cover the whole territory favoring transport of goods and travel. The developed transport network has favored the creation of several commercial activities such as motels, insurance companies and service areas. Air transport, with more than 16,000 airports, is frequently used both for internal and international travel. Naval transport is also highly developed. Entertainment industry (TV, cinema, music, sport and cultural activities) plays a major role, and tourism is also very important, with over 30 million visitors every year. Tourists are attracted in particular by the metropolises of New

York, Chicago, Los Angeles and San Francisco and by the many places of great landscape interest, such as parks and nature reserves (The USA Online).



Figure 3.9: number of FDI undertaken in the transportation sector. Source: fDi markets.

3.4 Agricultural sector

Although the agricultural sector does not contribute much to the gross domestic product, the United States lead in many sectors of agricultural production, and agricultural products represent a very important item in the export market. The crops are varied and distributed in characteristic regions (called belts) specialized depending on the
environmental conditions and production organization. The main ones are wheat, corn, tobacco and cotton. Tobacco is mainly produced in North Carolina and Kentucky. Other notable products are peanuts in Georgia, tomatoes in Florida and pineapples in Hawaii. Alaska is the first state both in terms of quantity and value of fishing. Other states that have good fish stocks are, in order of economic importance, Massachusetts, Louisiana, Texas, Maine, California, Washington, Florida and Virginia. Another very important item for the economy is represented by breeding. The breeding areas include Texas and the western mountains where there is a large availability of grasslands for grazing (The USA Online).



Figure 3.10: number of FDI undertaken in the food and tobacco sector. Source: fDi markets.

3.5 Research and Development (R&D)

R&D in the United States is funded by different sources, such as private businesses, the federal government, nonfederal government agencies, academia and nonprofit organizations. Based on the work that it supports, it is possible to categorized R&D in basic research, applied research and development. Total estimated U.S. 2018 expenditures in R&D were \$580 billion. Of this amount, the 63.5% was destinated to development, 19.8% to applied research and 16.7% to basic research (FAS). The business sector is the most important source of funding with more than \$404 billion expenditure in 2018 (69.7% of total U.S. expenditure), followed by the federal government that contributed with more than \$127 billion (21.9% of total U.S. expenditure).



Figure 3.11: 2018 U.S. R&D funding by sector. Source: CRS analysis of National Science Foundation. Source: fDi markets.

R&D is often performed by sectors different from the funding ones. However, the business sector is also by far the largest performer of U.S. R&D (\$422.1 billion in 2018) while the higher education sector is the second (more than \$74.7 billion in 2018) (FAS). The ratio of total national R&D expenditure to GDP is often reported as a measure of the

intensity of the R&D effort of a nation and it is widely used as an international benchmark for comparing the size of countries' R&D systems (National Science Foundation). The ratio of U.S. R&D expenditures to GDP was about 2.71% in 2018.



Figure 3.12: 2018 U.S. R&D performance by sector. Source: CRS analysis of National Science Foundation. Source: fDi markets.

4 Determinants selection

Foreign companies investing in the United States have fifty potential options to evaluate when deciding about the location of their investments. Literature review allows to identify the characteristics, also called determinants, that are recognized as the most influential in driving multinationals' choices. Some of these determinants are strictly related to state specific characteristics, others depend on the investment decisions made in the past by other firms or by the company itself.

4.1 State specific determinants

When deciding where to undertake an investment, multinationals evaluate which location offers the highest expected profitability. Obviously, the expected profitability of an FDI is strongly affected by the host state specific characteristics, which assume more or less importance depending on the reasons that move the investors: clearly, companies that are investing moved by resource seeking reasons will evaluate state specific characteristics in a different way with respect to a foreign company that invest because of market seeking goals. Typically, FDI inflow is assumed to be function of those destinations' characteristics that can affect both the revenues generated and the costs incurred. For this research, the following state specific determinants were examined.

4.1.1 Local market size

Market demand is typically one of the main drivers of FDI, and the size of the local market can be evaluated as a measure of the market demand in the country. Foreign firms are usually attracted by large markets; that is especially true for those firms that are driven by market-seeking behavior whose main purpose is to serve foreign customers (Coughlin, Terza and Arromdee, 1989; Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

4.1.2 Market growth

Investors are not only interested in the current size of the host market, but also in its potential growth. In fact, a fast-growing market increases the expected profits of the companies and guarantees more growth opportunities. Future growth expectation represents a key element especially for companies that are investing with long-term targets (Chung and Alcácer, 2002; Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

4.1.3 Unemployment

The unemployment level of the destination state plays an important role in the decision process of MNE deciding where to undertake a foreign investment. Anyway, it is not sure whether the unemployment affects positively or negatively the attractiveness of a location. For example, a high unemployment rate of a state is likely to positively influence the foreign investors which consider it as an indicator of high availability of potential workforce. However, it could have a negative influence when considering some related issues, such as the higher amount that a firm must pay in unemployment insurance premiums (Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

4.1.4 Educational attainment

Different types of FDI attach different importance to the existence of available well educated and trained human capital in the potential host country (Strat, 2015). Different studies have been carried out about the influence of aspects related to the educational system of the destination countries on FDI inflows, usually demonstrating that foreign investors are more inclined to invest where there is a higher presence of a well-educated force, in order to reduce training cost for local workers that turn out to be more able to learn and more skilled at adopting new technologies (Axarlogou, 2004; Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

4.1.5 Research and development effort

FDI and R&D are mutually dependent, are positively related and reinforce each other (Lin and Yeh, 2006). However, the weight attributed to the R&D expenditure in the host country during the location decision process depends on the importance that local investments in innovation assumes for foreign companies. Previous studies show that low-tech industries are expected to locate their foreign investments in low R&D intensity states, while firms in research-intensive industries are likely to prefer countries which guarantee a greater innovation effort (Hennart and Park, 1994; Kornecki and Ekanayake, 2012).

4.1.6 Taxation

High taxation rates negatively influence the FDI inflow. In the United States, corporate income taxes are levied in 44 states, with rates from 2.5% in North Carolina to 12% in Iowa. Nevada, Ohio, Texas and Washington impose gross receipts taxes instead of corporate income taxes. Thirty-four states adopt a single-rate corporate tax system, instead fourteen states apply tax brackets. South Dakota and Wyoming are the only states that do not levy a corporate income or gross receipts tax. These evident differences among the fifty states necessarily impose to consider the effect of the taxation for this study (Morisset and Pirnia, 2002; Axarlogou, 2005).

4.2 Agglomeration determinants

Traditional theories based on the principle that foreign firms choose the location that allows them to minimize production costs or to increase revenues do not perfectly fit with the geographic concentration of economic activities. In fact, such a concentration is expected to lead to an increase of input prices and to the resulting dispersion of those firms which try to find lower input prices (Jordan, 2004). Most recent studies, taking note of this inconsistency, suggest that agglomeration economies represent another important

phenomenon that should be necessarily considered to properly explain the geographical distribution of FDI.

We talk about agglomeration economies when new investors mimic past investment decisions made by other investors in choosing the location of their investments (Kinoshita and Campos, 2003). Agglomeration economies are due to the fact that the information asymmetry problem that arises from not being familiar with local laws, culture and customers' behavior, affects the foreign investors decision to direct their business to regions with an already settled base of foreign MNEs. In such a situation, not only past investments are interpreted as a sign of favorable environment, but new investors realize that, by locating their facilities next to other firms already in place, they can benefit from positive externalities, such as knowledge spillovers, specialized labor and intermediate inputs. Furthermore, the presence of foreign investors from different industry sectors can also facilitate the sharing of technology spillovers and technical information about how to efficiently operate in the host country. Econometric results obtained by Head et al. (1995) suggest that agglomeration economies have a dominant influence on investors' decisions.

In order to take agglomeration externalities into account, the following determinants have been taken into account for the study.

4.2.1 Industrial specialization

Foreign investors may decide to locate their FDI in areas with a strong presence of other firms belonging to the same industry sector or engaged in the same industry activity, taking advantage of the so-called "Marshall externalities" (Smith and Florida, 1993; Bronzini, 2004). According to Marshall (1890), external economies of scale depend on the general development of a firm's industry. Firms in industries that exhibit a high degree of regional concentration may benefit from industry-specific externalities that arise from geographical agglomeration, gaining competitive advantages over those firms located elsewhere. For example, same-industry concentrated firms can exploit several benefits such as a rich pool of specialized workers, the emergence of specific secondary services,

an easy access to intermediate inputs and the spread of technological or knowledge spillovers among firms (Baltzopoulos, 2009). Another advantage is represented by the shared use of the infrastructures provided by host countries, including highways, pipes, power systems, internet and network connection, that enables the creation of scale economies and leads to productivity increase. The possibility to enjoy the several advantages linked to the Marshall externalities suggests that the industrial specialization could play a key role in the location decision process.

4.2.2 Home country activity

Agglomeration phenomena can also be favored by proximity to firms with the same country of origin, that might simplify the adapting process towards local environment, culture and institutions (Smith and Florida, 1993). In fact, the presence of other multinationals from the same country helps to reduce entry costs generated by asymmetric information, as well as language, cultural and bureaucratic barriers. When moving abroad, firms have to adapt their routines to the local environment; country-of-origin agglomeration provides an effective channel for the sharing of sensitive and tacit knowledge about local business environments (Tan and Meyer, 2011), therefore foreign investors in need of such knowledge are more likely to locate their foreign businesses in areas with a strong presence of firms from their same origin. For these reasons, it is necessary to investigate how much multinationals' location choice is influenced by the presence of an already existing population of firms from the same country.

4.2.3 Parent company activity

The asymmetric information problem that arises from not knowing the host countries markets and their characteristics might persuade foreign investors to opt for the colocation, by choosing to conduct further investments where they have previously invested rather than in a new country, taking advantage of familiarity and insights already obtained in order to reduce the entry cost (Smith and Florida, 1993). However, despite the presence of activities of the parent company in a country could stimulate additional investments due to a decrease in information asymmetry, it could also lead the parent company to select a different location if it is seeking for new market opportunities or if the past outcomes of operating in that region were not sufficiently rewarding.

5 Firm location decision

5.1 Regression variables

A company will decide to locate its new business in the state which should guarantee a potential profit that is expected to exceed the potential profits generated in all the other available alternatives. Hence, a model in which the dependent variable expresses the "probability" of investing in a state and not in the others has been constructed.

Based on the determinants selected, it is possible to write the following function in which the probability of investing is given by the values of nine variables selected to represent the determinants:

$$\Pi_{cit} = F \left(\alpha_1 GDPPC_{it} + \alpha_2 GDPPC_VAR_{it} + \alpha_3 UN_RATE_{it} + \alpha_4 EDU_{it} \right. \\ \left. + \alpha_5 RES_DEV_{it} + \alpha_6 TAX_{it} + \alpha_7 SPEC_{cit} + \alpha_8 ORIG_{cit} \right. \\ \left. + \alpha_9 PARENT_{cit} \right)$$

 Π_{cit} is the "probability" that the company *c* decides to invest in the state *i* at year *t*.

 $GDPPC_{it}$ is the real per capita GDP of the state *i* in the year *t*. The GDP per capita is used in the regression model to assess the local market size, and its coefficient is expected to have positive sign. Data on the real per capita GDP of the fifty states are provided by the Bureau of Economic Analysis. $GDPPC_VAR_{it}$ is the yearly per capita GDP variation of the state *i* in the year *t*. It is used to assess the host market attractiveness, since it provides information about market growth and future opportunities. Its coefficient is expected to have positive sign.

 UN_RATE_{it} is the unemployment rate of the state *i* in the year *t*. Because of the uncertainty of its influence, the sign of this variable in the regression model can be either positive or negative. Data on the unemployment rate of the fifty states are provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics.

 EDU_{it} is the percentage of population at least high school graduated of the state *i* in the year *t*. Based on past studies, this variable is expected to have a positive impact. Data on the educational attainment for the fifty states are provided by the United States Census Bureau.

 RES_DEV_{it} is the R&D expenditure in the state *i* in the year *t* expressed as percentage of annual real GDP. Based on past studies, the coefficient of this variable is expected to have positive sign. Data on the annual R&D expenditure of the fifty states are provided by National Science Foundation.

 TAX_{it} is the state corporate income tax rate for a \$150,000 income in the state *i* in the year *t*. High taxation rates usually deter FDI inflows, therefore the sign of this variable in the regression is expected to be negative. Data on the state corporate income tax rate of the fifty states are provided by Tax Foundation.

 $SPEC_{cit}$ is the number of the initial stock of FDI undertaken in the state *i* to perform the same industry activity that the company *c* wants to perform by investing at year *t*. This variable has the purpose to verify the effect of Marshall externalities, so the sign of its coefficient is expected to be positive.

 $ORIG_{cit}$ is the number of the initial stock of FDI undertaken in the state i by companies that come from the same country of the company *c* that wants to invest at year *t*. This variable is used to verify the effect that past investments made in a foreign state by sameorigin companies has on the location choice for new investments. The effect of this variable is expected to be positive.

 $PARENT_{cit}$ is the sum of the number of investments undertaken in the state *i* by the company *c* before the year *t*. This variable is used to verify the effect that past investments made in a foreign state by the company itself has on the location choice for new investments. The effect of this variable can be either positive or negative.

Variable	Definition	Source
GDPPC	Per capita GDP of the state i in the year t	Bureau of Economic Analysis
GDPPC_VAR	Yearly percentage variation of per capita GDP of the state i in the year t	Bureau of Economic Analysis
UN_RATE	Unemployment rate of the state i in the year t	Bureau of Labor Statistics
EDU	Percentage of population of the state i in the year t at least high school graduated	United States Census Bureau
RES_DEV	R&D expenditure in the state i in the year t as percentage of the real GDP	National Science Foundation
TAX	Corporate income tax rate for a \$150,000 income in the state i in the year t	Tax Foundation
SPEC	Number of investments undertaken by foreign companies in the state i during the initial stock period 2003-2004 related to the same industry activity of the tested investment	fDi markets, Financial Times Ltd.
ORIG	Number of investments undertaken by companies from the same country of company c in the state i during the initial stock period 2003-2004	fDi markets, Financial Times Ltd.
PARENT	Sum of the number of investments undertaken by company c in the state i before the year t	fDi markets, Financial Times Ltd.

Table 5.1: regression variables description.

5.2 Conditional Logit model results

After the selection of the regression variables representing the determinants, the next step was to execute the regressions performing the Conditional Logit Model. The Conditional Logit regressions were generated by using the software Stata, so it was at first necessary to upload the database containing all the information about the FDI and the data concerning the regression variables. In order to correctly execute the regressions, some preliminarily operations were performed to perfectly structure the dataset. Some of these operations were aimed at creating information related to the initial FDI stock, used to take into consideration the agglomeration economies. It was decided to use the FDI undertaken in 2003 and 2004 as initial stock, so the observations pertaining to these years were subsequently removed from the dataset, and the regressions have been executed on a starting total of 19,111 observations.

Several regressions have been carried out, different both in terms of number of observations and variables considered. By doing so, it was possible to better assess the effects that each variable, individually or along with others, might have either overall or just on particular kinds of investments. The results that were judged most remarkable are presented below.

5.2.1 Results obtained for the whole population

The first set of regressions describe the effects of the regression variables when considering the whole number of observations composing the dataset. The results are reported on *Table 5.2* and *Table 5.3*. The variables chosen for the regressions are listed in the first columns of the tables, while in the following columns it is reported the value of the coefficient of the variables that are considered on each occasion. *Table 5.2* contains the results obtained for regressions not including the agglomeration variables, whereas *Table 5.3* reports the outcomes of the regressions that include them. A similar structure is repeated for all the following sets of regressions. Moreover, the significance level of the results, provided by the p-value, is indicated by a certain number of *.

The first regression uses only the variables that represent the characteristics of the host market; they are per capita GDP (gdppc) and per capita GDP annual variation ($gdppc_var$). The outcome is reported on the column r1. The coefficients of these variables are all greater than zero, indicating a positive effect on the location choice. The results are significant and consistent with what was foreseen a priori. In fact, these variables represent for foreign investors an important indicator of the local market size, and this aspect is extremely relevant especially for investors moved by market seeking objectives.

For the second regression (r2) the unemployment rate (un_rate) was added to the model. The significance level is high, and the coefficient of the variable is positive, reflecting a positive impact of the unemployment level of the destination state on the location decision. The positive sign of the coefficient can be explained assuming that most foreign investors consider a relatively high unemployment rate as a sign of labor force availability.

For the third regression (r3) the variable indicating the educational attainment (edu) was added, hence this regression takes into account the determinant related to the level of instructions in the host state. The result is significant, and the coefficient obtained presents negative sign, revealing the negative impact of the educational level. This result can be explained considering that a low level of education implies low wages. This result is in line with what emerged in the previous regression, considering that also a high availability of labor force allows companies to keep down the wages.

The variable added in the fourth regression (r4) is the one related to the expenditure in research and development (res_dev) , which allows to verify the importance of the research effort for the investing companies. The result is again significant, and the coefficient is positive. This coefficient and the coefficient related to the educational attainment present opposite signs, so these two results might be considered contradicting each other. Anyway, this inconsistency might be due to the fact that this set of regressions is performed without distinguishing the activities for which the investments are undertaken. The negative influence of the educational attainment is typical of those

industry activities that do not much care of high innovation levels, as the set of regressions in the next chapter is going to confirm.

In the fifth regression (r5) the taxation (tax) came in. Of course, it was normal to assume that a higher tax rate negatively impacts the multinationals' location decisions, and in fact the coefficient of this new variable is negative, as expected. Here too, the level of significance is high.

Variable	r1	r2	r3	r4	r5
gdppc	.0279798***	.03575723***	.05014487***	.0422682***	.04926728***
gdppc_var	3.0562301***	8.5067591***	8.8321817***	8.4253123***	8.1570066***
un_rate		40.924154***	26.179234***	23.164842***	32.07928***
edu			-17.931884***	-17.945048***	-16.811219***
res_dev				14.699892***	13.473919***
tax					-4.4456925***
spec					
origin					
parent					

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.2: results of the first set of regressions without agglomeration variables.

From the sixth regressions the variables representing agglomeration economies were added. In the sixth regression (r6) the specialization variable (*spec*) is added to those previously analyzed. The inclusion of this variable has the effect of slightly reduce the significance level of the taxation. The positive effect of this variable shows the importance assigned by investing companies to the uncertainty reduction resulting by the fact that other firms performing the same activity signal the possibility to well perform in the examined destination.

The seventh regression (r7) includes the presence of companies from the same country (orig). The coefficient is again positive, and the result is significant, revealing that this factor is well regarded by new investors. This is due to the information asymmetry

reduction generated by the presence of same-origin firms that signal ease of environmental adaptation.

Finally, in the eighth regression (r8) all the variables are considered together. The last variable added is the one related to the past activities of the parent company (*parent*). The coefficient is positive, and the result is significant. The positive coefficient of the variable related to the parent company activity suggests that investing companies might be attracted by states in which they have already invested, consequently choosing to colocate their new investments, especially in order to reduce possible entrance costs incurred when locating in a new destination.

Variable	r6	r7	r8
gdppc	.02462508***	.01948515***	.02075943***
gdppc_var	3.3743056***	2.5953155***	1.9816833***
un_rate	18.849002***	16.565215***	16.120889***
edu	-5.8392778***	-4.6043726***	-4.188281***
res_dev	6.0622443***	5.1553463***	3.231071***
tax	-1.3325837**	-1.4119024**	-1.1437906**
spec	.06712185***	.06107485***	.05970809***
origin		.04027632***	.03613118***
parent			.6507***

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.3: results of the first set of regressions with agglomeration variables.

5.2.2 Results obtained for the main industry activities

The previous set of regressions was carried out to generate overall results, without making any distinction between the features of each investment. In the FDI database each observation is associated to one of eighteen industry activities. It is expected that the results obtained when considering only investments related to a particular activity might present some differences with respect to the results generated by entering in the regression model all the observations included in the dataset.

The second set of regressions was then conducted analyzing individually the observations linked to the most represented industry activities: business services (BS), headquarters (HQ), logistics, distribution and transportation (LOG), manufacturing (MANU), research and development (ResDev) (composed by the activities of research and development and testing), and sales (SALES) (composed by the activities of retail, customer contact center and sales, marketing and support).

Table 5.4 and *Table 5.5* report the results obtained without inserting the variables related to the agglomeration economies. This tables allow to see the different impact of the determinants when considering the various investment activities. There are three main interesting results that confirm some of the findings emerged from the literature review: the first is that the effect the taxation is extremely influent, with negative sign, when considering manufacturing investments (Coughlin et al., 1989), while for business services, headquarters and R&D investments this variable results not significant or significant at 10%; the second is that the highest values of the coefficients of the GDP per capita and GDP per capita growth occur for business services and sales activities (O'Meara, 2015); the third is that the highest value of the coefficient of the variable related to the R&D effort is recorded for the group that includes the activities of research and development and design, development and testing (Chung and Alcácer, 2002).

Another important outcome worthy of attention is the negative sign assumed by the coefficient of the variable *gdppc* in the regression involving the manufacturing activity. This result, that at first sight might seem not consistent, can be explained considering that the separation among industry activities could result not exhaustive for those activities that vary widely according to the affiliated industry sector, as in this case. For similar reasons, the negative sign assumed by the variable *tax* is arguably caused by the influence of other state specific characteristics that are not included in this model.

Variable	BS	HQ	LOG
gdppc	.09468638***	.03427384***	.00418426
gdppc_var	9.4230185***	3.8865524***	7.2688069***
un_rate	31.620179***	30.997667***	27.693643***
edu	-23.35984***	-11.806224***	-13.281507***
res_dev	2.7730452	26.158311***	9.4941066***
tax	-3.1021571*	-2.048092	9.747667***
spec			
origin			
parent			

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.4: results of the second set of regressions without agglomeration variables.

Variable	MANU	ResDev	SALES
gdppc	01698939***	.01781876***	.08569696***
gdppc_var	4.9806777***	8.875979***	9.3042228***
un_rate	26.021358***	32.493825***	36.306761***
edu	-8.407435***	-13.162317***	-22.912736***
res_dev	8.2184038***	58.203243***	10.986096***
tax	-8.5035896***	72022964	-4.6128583***
spec			
origin			
parent			
•			

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.5: results of the second set of regressions without agglomeration variables.

Table 5.6 and *Table 5.7* report the results obtained with the inclusion of the agglomeration variables. The effect of this kind of variables is really strong and their inclusion causes various alterations both in terms of the coefficients' sign and the significance level. Major differences can be observed with regard to the impact and the significance level of the GDP per capita and its variation, that are strongly modified by the agglomeration variables. This marked change can be explained by the fact that the importance given to the determinants reflecting the market size, which is high at the time of the first investment, is replaced by the importance attached to the fact that other companies, or the company itself, have already invested in that specific activity or state.

a_BS	a_HQ	a_LOG
.00225273	.0100423***	.00744805
1.275371	-3.4387242**	2.3067732
12.698572***	13.269949***	15.300233***
-8.3808472***	22032599	-3.9140821**
26.243561***	11.641091***	-7.0915814*
8.377802***	-3.6560657**	.84804423
.08034094***	.1948996***	.20481705***
.02666449***	.01178443**	.0321286***
.18882033***	2.0965451***	.72625119***
	- .00225273 1.275371 12.698572*** -8.3808472*** 26.243561*** 8.377802*** .08034094*** .02666449***	.00225273.0100423***1.275371-3.4387242**12.698572***13.269949***-8.3808472***2203259926.243561***11.641091***8.377802***-3.6560657**.08034094***.1948996***.02666449***.01178443**

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.6: results of the second set of regressions with agglomeration variables.

Variable	a_MANU	a_ResDev	a_SALES
gdppc	00642945**	.03205695***	.02143487***
gdppc_var	1.2239367	2.1403926	.55117145
un_rate	8.7789266***	12.913216***	16.486807***
edu	47957198	-6.6674793***	.16752545
res_dev	-10.552185***	22.588577***	-1.6617667
tax	.8157527	-3.3937895	-7.8894088***
spec	.05004495***	.24917913***	.07104049***
origin	.02732127***	.02043394***	.02446275***
parent	1.2778983***	1.1856304***	.27470301***

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.7: results of the second set of regressions with agglomeration variables.

5.2.3 Results obtained for the main investing country

After having separated the observations on the basis of their industry activity, another interesting differentiation can be done on the basis of the investing countries. In fact, it is likely that the characteristics of the source country affect the objectives of the FDI and, consequently, the effects of the determinants.

It is already been said that more than the half of the investments undertaken in the period 2003-2018 were performed by only five countries: United Kingdom (*UK*), Germany (*GER*), Japan (*JAP*), Canada (CAN) and France (*FRA*). Hence, the third set of regressions aimed at inspecting the differences that emerge when the Conditional Logit Model is executed including only the investments originating from these five countries and from Italy (*ITA*).

Analyzing the results from *Table 5.8* and *Table 5.9*, it results that the coefficient of the variable representing the effort in research and development provided by the destination state assumes its lowest value in the regression involving investments from the U.K, whereas the variable results even not significant for companies from Italy. Indeed, about

a third of the total number of investments analyzed coming from the U.K. are related to business services and financial services, and about a third of those coming from Italy are related to the textile sector; these are sectors not much affected by the expenditure in R&D.

It is also interesting to notice that taxation significantly affects the decisions taken by firms from all the countries investigated with the exception of France and Japan. On the other hand, Japan is strongly influenced by the approach of the host countries to research and development (its coefficient is the second highest among the other coefficients related to this variable). This result is in line with the results obtained by Hennart and Park (1994), who highlighted the importance given to innovation effort by Japanese investors by noticing that the larger a Japanese firm's R&D expenditures, the greater the probability it will manufacture in the United States.

Variable	UK	GER	JAP
gdppc	.08140713***	.0165545***	.00966172***
gdppc_var	8.9694554***	5.4541138***	8.7928752***
un_rate	31.943091***	33.398156***	37.929653***
edu	-19.908045***	-11.794437***	-14.750836***
res_dev	7.1905067***	23.526834***	17.987328***
tax	-3.6542788**	-6.7656468***	.26892153
spec			
origin			
parent			

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.8: results of the third set of regressions without agglomeration variables.

Variable	CAN	FRA	ITA
gdppc	.04113586***	.06470101***	.04879489***
gdppc_var	8.1222558***	8.7044828***	6.7857702***
un_rate	28.355156***	32.764257***	34.843589***
edu	-12.821213***	-17.290649***	-13.830184***
res_dev	13.124702***	10.196727***	1.1537997
tax	-9.469656***	-2.5181613	-9.8046181***
spec			
origin			
parent			

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.9: results of the third set of regressions without agglomeration variables.

Table 5.10 and *Table 5.11* report the results of this set obtained with the inclusion of the agglomeration variables. All the three variables present a positive coefficient and a high level of significance. Again, their effect proves to be dominant, modifying values and signs of some coefficients and the significance level of some variables.

Among the variables reflecting the destination state characteristics, *un_rate* is the one that is less affected by the inclusion of the agglomeration variables, showing the major importance that is given to the labor force availability in any scenarios.

As in the previous set of regressions, it could be possible that some of the results that are more difficult to understand are generated by factors which depend on state-specific characteristics not considered in this analysis.

Variable	a_UK	a_GER	a_JAP
gdppc	.01705355***	.01672764***	.00260304
gdppc_var	1.1466553	.25952893	1.1954612
un_rate	11.668103***	10.282558***	18.476813***
edu	-1.2576086	-3.9917369***	30355597
res_dev	6.16294***	73518633	-7.4224045**
tax	-1.5871805	5.2993286***	11733396
spec	.04434674***	.04805358***	.05412041***
origin	.06334176***	.09364909***	.03289509***
parent	1.2718112***	.60219749***	.64773811***

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.10: results of the third set of regressions with agglomeration variables.

Variable	a_CAN	a_FRA	a_ITA
gdppc	.0117225***	.00047282	.00040254
gdppc_var	2.6049205*	-1.0429025	1.4040094
un_rate	12.039123***	11.674725***	19.718972***
edu	-3.3906834***	2.8757882**	67321375
res_dev	3.1892431	.07383922	1.7747283
tax	-4.8602816***	3.8496358*	1.2185685
spec	.04307323***	.04913772***	.06278494***
origin	.09900401***	.15764431***	.04979136***
parent	.45425778***	.33835874***	1.9047448***

legend: * p<.1; ** p<.05; *** p<.01

Table 5.11: results of the third set of regressions with agglomeration variables.

6 Conclusions

This study has examined the effect of some of the main determinants of inward greenfield Foreign Direct Investments in the United States for the period 2003-2018, determining a function to obtain a measure of the probability that a multinational enterprise chooses one federal state over the others when deciding the location for a new investment. The analysis of the determinants extracted from the literature allowed to compare the results obtained by applying the Conditional Logit Model with those obtained in the past by using other methodologies and other investment databases. In some cases, this comparison showed consistency with what had been previously discovered, but in other occasions, many new interesting results emerged.

At first, it is important to notice that the many differences obtained with the various sets of regressions prove that a diversification by industry activity and by home country of the investing firm is necessary to deeply understand the effects of the determinants, because an overall evaluation might lead to overestimate or underestimate the importance of some decision drivers.

A second important finding is that, despite the variations caused by the progressive introduction of the determinants, the inclusion of the agglomeration variables turned out to be very impactful in every regression, showing a high level of significance and a positive influence in attracting new investments. This important result can be explained considering that the United States offer to foreign investors a stable economic and political environment which generally make investing in each of the fifty federal states highly profitable. Consequently, determinants that are less related to the state specific characteristics and more related to other phenomena such as the agglomeration economies result to play a major role in the location decision process.

Another conclusive observation is that technological and process innovation, extremely fast especially in the United States, will inevitably lead to the rise of new investment determinants and to the resulting adjustments in the impact of the more traditional ones. It is therefore normal that the results obtained analyzing the most recent databases could present discrepancies with respect to those obtained by studying past observations, just as it is predictable that this kind of research could potentially come to new evidences in the future.

The results of this research can be interesting not only for the scientific world, but also and especially for investors that want to evaluate the opportunity to invest soon in greenfield projects in the United States, and for the United States policy makers that are accounted for attracting FDI. In fact, this study highlights the importance of many characteristics that could be considered by the policy makers as a powerful tool to leverage on when considering attracting further investments recognized as necessary to the local economy growth.

This research can be considered rather exhaustive, thanks to the comprehensiveness of the FDI database and the use of a fair number of variables. Moreover, many of the outcomes generated validate the quality of the constructed model, such as the fact that the highest values of the coefficients related to the R&D expenditure are obtained in the regressions investigating the investments linked to R&D activities.

However, the fact that the number of determinants and of the related variables impacting the location decision is very large, and the fact that in the future the impact of these determinants can change, leaves rooms for further in-depth analysis. Furthermore, the Conditional Logit Model features some drawbacks, such as the limitation of the Independence of Irrelevant Alternatives (IAA) that implies that the odds ratio of two alternatives, j and k, does not depend on other alternatives (Haan, 2005).

Therefore, it might be interesting for future research to approach this study also by applying a different model, and by verifying the effect of other determinants and variables together with the variation of the effect of those already considered.

Acknowledgements

This thesis work represents the final step of my academic journey, and there are so many people I want to thank for having played a key role in helping me to reach this goal.

First of all, I want to thank Professor Luigi Benfratello for giving me the opportunity to work with him on a topic that intrigued me and that allowed me to explore several interesting economic dynamics. A big thank you goes also to Alida Sangrigoli, who supervised my work with great availability giving me valuable and precious suggestions.

I must say thank you to my life-long friend Mario, I know I can always count on him and his complicity. I really admire him, and I'm sure that these years of study will help us to realize at least one of our many brilliant ideas and projects!

Thanks to my dearest friends: Ambra, Elena, Peppe, Maria, Matti, Miri, Silvia e Toni. Our friendship has not been affected by the distance and that means a lot. I hope that in the future we could share more time together.

Thanks to Eugenio, he is always available both for a laugh and for more serious stuff. I am glad I had the opportunity to meet again such a good friend after many years.

Thanks to Bruna and Claudio, who helped me to face the difficulties of the first year far from home becoming friends rather than just roommates.

Thanks to Auri, Fabri and Frà who welcomed me in their home since day one. I shared with them every single day in Turin and nothing would have been the same without them. Via Perosa will always be our home.

Thanks to Laura, words cannot explain how important she turned out to be, but I am sure she knows it. She is a real friend and I am so grateful to have met her.

Thanks to all the CdA members not yet mentioned: Anto, Bigo, Dido, Jack, Giamma, Marcio e Simo. They are such an amazing group and I enjoyed every single moment spent with them. We had a really good time together.

Thanks to Martina, she is one of a kind and it is nice to have a friend who can understand my hardship! I hope that sooner or later we can find a solution to our flaws!

Finally, the biggest thank you goes to my family. Throughout my life, every single member of my family has contributed to make me a better person, able to face new challenges and successfully complete them. Above all, thanks to Mom, Dad and Marti who gave me the opportunity to live this important experience and who always helped me to deal with the tough decisions, making this journey easier.

References

- Axarloglou, K. (2004), "Local Labor Market Conditions and Foreign Direct Investment Flows in the US". Atlantic Economic Journal, Vol. 32, No. 1, 2004, pp. 62-66.
- Axarloglou, K. (2005), "What Attracts Foreign Direct Investment Inflows in the United States". The International Trade Journal, 19:3, 285-308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08853900591007438</u>
- Baltzopoulos, A. (2009), "Agglomeration Externalities and Entrepreneurship. Microlevel evidence from Sweden". CESIS Electronic Working Paper No.190, Stockholm, Centre of Excellence for Science and Innovation Studies, The Royal Institute of Technology.

Available at: https://static.sys.kth.se/itm/wp/cesis/cesiswp190.pdf

- Barba Navaretti, G., Venables, A. (2006), "Multinational Firms in the World Economy". Princeton University Press.
- Bronzini, R. (2004), "Foreign Direct Investment and Agglomeration: Evidence from Italy". 44th Congress of the European Regional Science Association: "Regions and Fiscal Federalism", 25th 29th August 2004, Porto, Portugal, European Regional Science Association (ERSA), Louvain-la-Neuve.
 Available at: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10419/117114</u>

- Casson, M. (1987), "The Firm and the Market, Studies on Multinational Enterprise and the Scope of the Firm". The Economic Journal, Volume 97, Issue 388, 1 December 1987, Pages 996–997. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2233089</u>
- Chung, W., Alcácer, J. (2002), "Knowledge Seeking and Location Choice of Foreign Direct Investment in the United States". Management Science, Vol. 48, No. 12, 2002, pp. 1534-1554. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.48.12.1534.440</u>
- Coughlin, C.C., Terza J.V., Arromdee, V. (1989), "State Characteristics and the Location of Foreign Direct Investment within the United States: Minimum Chi-Square Conditional Logit Estimation".
 Available at: <u>http://research.stlouisfed.org/wp/1987/1987-006.pdf</u>
- Dunning, J.H. (1993), "Multinational Enterprises and the Global Economy". Addison Wesley, New York.
- Dunning, J.H., Lundan, S.M. (2008), "Multinational Enterprises and the Global Economy, Second Edition". Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Franco, C., Rentocchini, F., Vittucci Marzetti, G. (2008), "Why do firms invest abroad? An analysis of the motives underlying Foreign Direct Investments". No 0817, Department of Economics Working Papers, Department of Economics, University of Trento, Italia.

Fruma, C. (2016), "Why does efficiency-seeking FDI matter?". Available at: <u>http://blogs.worldbank.org/psd/why-does-efficiency-seeking-fdi-matter</u>

Goldstein A., Piscitello, L. (2007), "Le Multinazionali". Società editrice Il mulino.

- Haan P. (2005), "Conditional Logit vs. Random Coefficient Models for Estimating Labour Supply Elasticities". Available at: <u>https://kooperationen.zew.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Redaktion/DFGFLEX/pape</u> <u>rSteiner3.pdf</u>
- Head, K., Ries, J., Swenson,D. (1995), "Agglomeration benefits and location choice: Evidence from Japanese manufacturing investments in the United States". Journal of Internationa Economies, Vol. 38, Issues 3-4, May 1995, Pages 223-247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1996(94)01351-R</u>
- Hennart, J.F., Park, Y.R. (1994), "Location, Governance, and Strategic Determinants of Japanese Manufacturing Investment in the United States". Strategic Management Journal, Vol. 15, No. 6, 1994, pp. 419-436. <u>https://doi:10.1002/smj.4250150602</u>
- Huilin, L., Yeh, R. (2006), "The interdependence between FDI and R&D: an application of an endogenous switching model to Taiwan's electronics industry". Applied Economics, 37:15, 1789-1799.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00036840500217093

Jordaan, J.A. (2004), "Foreign Direct Investment, Externalities and Geography: An Analysis of the Effects of Geographical Proximity on the Externalities from FDI in Mexican Manufacturing". Available at: <u>http://etheses.lse.ac.uk/2125/1/U613357.pdf</u>

Cristina J. (2012), "Horizontal and Vertical Technology Spillovers from FDI in Eastern Europe". halshs-00828022. Available at: <u>https://halshs.archives-ouvertes.fr</u>

- Kinoshita, J., Campos, N.F. (2003), "Why does FDI go where it goes? New evidence from the transition economies". IMF Working Papers 03. <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.414540</u>
- Kornecki, L., Ekanayake, E. (2012), "State Based Determinants of Inward FDI Flow in the US Economy". Modern Economy, Vol. 3 No. 3, 2012, pp. 302-309. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/me.2012.33040</u>
- Moran, T., Graham, E., Blomstrom, M. (2005), "Does Foreign Direct Investment Promote Development?". Peterson Institute for International Economics.
- Morisset, J., Pirnia, N. (2002), "The Impact of Tax Policy and Incentives on FDI" in Bora, B. (Ed.) Foreign Direct Investment: Research Issues' Routledge: London.

- O'Meara, G. (2015), "Examining the Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment," Undergraduate Economic Review: Vol. 11: Iss. 1, Article 13. Available at: <u>http://digitalcommons.iwu.edu/uer/vol11/iss1/13</u>
- Sargent, J.F. (2020), "U.S. Research and Development Funding and Performance: Fact Sheet, 24 January 2020".
 Available at: <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44307.pdf</u>
- Smith, D.F., Florida R. (1994), "Agglomeration and Industrial Location: An Econometric Analysis of Japanese-Affiliated Manufacturing Establishment in Automotive-Related Industries". Journal of Urban Economies 36, 23-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/juec.1994.1024</u>
- Strat, V.A. (2015), "The relationship between the education system and the inflow of FDI for the Central and East European EU new member state". Available at: <u>http://revecon.ro/articles/2015-2/2015-2-5.pdf</u>
- Tan, D., Meyer, K. E. (2011), "Country-of-origin and industry FDI agglomeration of foreign investors in an emerging economy". J Int Bus Stud 42, 504–520 (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/jibs.2011.4</u>

Web references

Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA). https://www.bea.gov

Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). https://www.bls.gov

Ceoworld Magazine. https://ceoworld.biz

Corporate Finance Institute. https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com

National Science Foundation (NSF). https://www.nsf.gov

Tax Foundation. <u>https://taxfoundation.org</u>

The Observatory of Economic Complexity (OEC). https://oec.world/en/

The USA Online. https://theusaonline.net/it/

United States Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov

United States Department of Transportation. https://www.transportation.gov